
 

LEE’S SUMMIT PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD  
MEETING MINUTES 

CITY OF LEE’S SUMMIT, MISSOURI 

DATE:  April 20, 2020  TIME:  6:00 PM  PLACE:  Strother Conference Room 

Board Members Present:  Board Members Absent:  Staff Present:  Other Guests: 

Tyler Morehead, President    Joe Snook  Rob Binney, Council Liaison 

Mindy Aulenbach, Vice President    Carole Culbertson   

Lawrence Bivins, Treasurer    David Dean    

Nancy Kelley    Steve Casey   

Samantha Shepard    Tede Price    

Marly McMillen    Jackie McCormick Heanue   

Jim Huser    Brooke Chestnut   

Casey Crawford       

Nick Walker       

AGENDA ITEM 
DISCUSSION 

(Findings/Conclusions) 
RECOMMENDATIONS/ 

ACTIONS 

AGENDA ITEMS:     

Approval of Minutes of 
February 26, 2020 Regular Park 
Board Meeting 

Supporting documentation (see pages 1‐6.)  
 

Ms. Bivins made a motion to 
approve the minutes of the 
February 2020 Park Board 
meeting; seconded by Ms. 
McMillen. Motion carried 
unanimously. 

Treasurer’s Report – February 
2020 

Supporting documentation (see pages 7‐16.) Mr. Bivins read the Treasurer’s 
Report for February 2020. No questions or discussion.  

Ms. Kelley made a motion to 
accept the Treasurer’s Report 
for February 2020; seconded by 
Ms. Aulenbach. Motion carried 
unanimously.  

Treasurer’s Report – March 
2020 

Supporting documentation (see pages 17‐26.) Mr. Bivins read the Treasurer’s 
Report for Mach 2020. Ms. McMillen asked about the additional $15,000 received 
for unplanned tree removal. Mr. Snook explained this was the settlement 
payment LSPR received from the Lowenstein contractor for the improper removal 
of trees.   

Ms. Aulenbach made a motion 
to accept the Treasurer’s Report 
for March 2020; seconded by 
Ms. McMillen. Motion carried 
unanimously. 

Sales Tax Report – March and 
April 2020 

Supporting documentation (see pages 27‐30.) Ms. McMillen asked what would 
make the sales tax reports incomplete, for example, only having 12 of the 15 top 
reporters, and wondered what other information we would be waiting for. Ms. 
Culbertson explained the Parks Department only receives what is reported by the 
State of Missouri, and the detail is cut off at a certain point in time. She explained 
this occurs every month, and we are only provided a portion of the information 
before the date of the report. She noted it is not accurate to reflect what truly 
represents sales tax receipts.  

No Board Action.  

OLD BUSINESS  

Projects and Services Review   Supporting documentation (see pages 31‐39.) No questions or discussion.   No Board Action. 

Capital Projects Plan through 
2019 

Supporting documentation (see pages 40‐57.)  
 
Howard Park Improvements: Mr. Casey stated there has been good progress made 
at Howard Park, and there is a final punch list walkthrough scheduled with the 
contractor and consultant for next week for both Howard and Summit Park 
improvement projects. He reported there are only a few minor items remaining at 
Howard which will be self‐performed by LSPR, including landscaping and disc golf 
basket and tee pad installation.  
 
Summit Park Improvements: Mr. Casey noted the tennis courts have been 
completed and the restrooms are close to completion. He also identified 
outstanding items to be self‐performed including grading on the practice fields 
and batting cages, landscaping.    
 

No Board Action.  



 

 
Lowenstein Park Improvements: Mr. Casey reported the traffic switch over has 
been completed allowing access to the park and parking lot from Pryor to 
Lowenstein Drive, and Phase 2 of the road improvements, west of Lowenstein 
and Black Twig is now in process. He reported the restrooms are close to 
completion and are awaiting final inspection, and noted the restoration, seeding 
and straw installation is complete. He indicated the parking lot striping will take 
place once the weather warms up, and also explained the park improvements 
“Phase 2” items, including the installation of playground equipment, shelters and 
fitness equipment, which will be performed by LSPR, will likely begin in June.  
 
Mr. Casey noted despite the widespread shutdowns recently, there has been little 
interruption with regard to construction projects, and LSPR’s crews have been 
working hard and maintaining good spirits and health during this difficult time.  
 
Ms. McMillen asked whether disc golf courses were still open during quarantine. 
Mr. Casey reported the Legacy Park course is currently open.  
 
Wave Pool @ Summit Waves: Mr. Dean reported there has been a lot of activity at 
the wave pool site in the past few weeks, noting there are contractors on site 
every day. He explained the masons are currently working on the building, which 
is estimated to be complete late this week or early next week, which would be 
immediately followed by the installation of trusses and roofing. He indicated Capri 
Pools staff are on site performing rubbing down of concrete and installation of 
stone to walls, all in preparation for the shell test, for the holding of water in the 
vessel, tentatively scheduled for the first week of May. Other contractors include 
the flatwork team, who poured the service drive last week and are working on 
pool deck and shade structure bases, as well as electricians and plumbers 
completing rough in work on the building. Mr. Dean explained the project did lose 
a few work days due to the weather and the pandemic executive order initially 
issued by Jackson County, which prevented workers from being on site for the 
first few days of the stay at home order in mid‐March, and the target for 
completion is May 20 at this time.  
 
Ms. McMillen asked about the tree removed from Harris Park, noting she is 
related to a person who has an interest in the tree, and there has been some 
activity on Facebook about the tree, which was dedicated to a Vietnam Veteran. 
Mr. Snook explained there was a “Freedom Tree” honoring a Vietnam Veteran in 
Harris Park, dedicated to all veterans. LSPR staff contacted the family when it was 
determined the tree was to be removed for construction, in addition, it was an 
Ash tree that was infected. Staff spoke with the sister of the honored person, who 
was very understanding, and the plaque was relocated to a healthy tree adjacent 
to the trail, and they were very happy with the location and the solution. Mr. 
Snook explained the Facebook posts were not addressed because LSPR typically 
doesn’t address issues not posted on our page. Ms. McMillen asked if a ceremony 
could be held to rededicate the tree after the quarantine is lifted. Mr. Snook 
noted his early conversations with the family indicated they did not desire a 
dedication and were happy with the solution we had in place, and staff was 
surprised to learn about the discussion on Facebook. Ms. McMillen said she was 
communicating with the daughter of the sister, who Mr. Snook did not 
communicate with, however he did communicate with the sister and a grandson 
who were both very happy with the outcome. Ms. McMillen stated she would 
respond to her contact, and Mr. Snook told her he would be happy to speak with 
the individual if needed.  
 
Mr. Crawford asked how the budget for the Wave Pool project would change in 
terms of additional expenditures as we get closer to a total projected budget, if at 
all. Mr. Dean reported overall the project is doing very well from a budget 
standpoint, and reported there is one change order pending, but we are also 
anticipating substantial savings on the landscaping budget, approximately 
$18,000.00. Mr. Snook also reminded the Board when it was determined rock 
may be an issue on site, there were several value engineered changes made to 



 

the project to gain some breathing room in the budget, but the discovery of the 
old municipal pool on the site did eat away at some of those savings.  
 
Mr. Crawford noted it was possible for the project to come in under budget in the 
entirety and asked how much under the project is currently anticipated. Mr. Dean 
stated it was difficult to estimate at this time. Mr. Crawford then asked if it was 
believed the project would come in under budget, and Mr. Dean reported he 
believed it would come in under budget.  

Fundraising Update  Supporting documentation (see pages 58‐60.) Mr. Dean explained we are not 
currently able to bring on new sponsors and we are faced with the challenge of 
working with our current sponsors to try and set up payment plans to help them 
get through this time period and create additional value from those sponsorship 
dollars in light of the closure of our facilities and amenities. No questions or 
discussion.   
 

No Board Action.  

NEW BUSINESS 

Report: E‐Sports Research and 
Findings 

Supporting documentation (see pages 61‐64.) Mr. Snook reminded the Board of 
the increased interest in the possibility of E‐Sports in parks and recreation. Three 
LSPR staff members did a lot of work on the research project and provided a great 
summary of the options available. Mr. Snook explained the three options: 
tournaments, leagues and camps/skills training. He noted based on startup costs 
and limitations associated with bandwidth and space, it is most feasible to pursue 
tournaments as a way to test the waters and start offering programs. The plan is 
to hold multiple tournaments throughout the fiscal year. The biggest challenge 
with leagues is the need for space, computers and adequate network support. 
The proposed LSPR program will be included in the FY21 budget but until we are 
able to stabilize and get things back to normal in general, we will not likely be 
aggressive in pursuing the program.  
 
Mr. Crawford thanked Mr. Snook and staff for researching the possibility of E‐
Sports, and noted he appreciated the effort in getting this program into the FY21 
budget. He believes this will be a great resource for special needs and those with 
physical disabilities to have an opportunity to participate.  
 

No Board Action. 

Report: Vaping in Parks 
Research and Findings 

Supporting documentation (see pages 65‐67.) Mr. Snook reminded the Board of 
the three teams set up by staff earlier this year to focus on specific topics and 
issues: 1) technology team, researching tech issues impacting Parks; 2) did you 
know; and 3) trends team. As a department, LSPR has been talking about vaping 
for the last several months. Mr. Snook noted Ms. Heanue conducted some initial 
research and turned it over to the trends team to prepare a report. Mr. Casey led 
the team. The team reviewed information at a national and regional level. From a 
national standpoint, it was determined there are a lot of departments across the 
country which have already included bans on vaping in their systems. Mr. Snook 
noted several Gold medal and accredited agencies seem to be doing so as well, 
but noted regionally, there is no other agency which bans vaping in its’ system 
currently.  
 
Mr. Snook reiterated the City of Lee’s Summit included vaping in its’ Clean Indoor 
Air Act last fall. The team also found many “campus” entities, such as the school 
district and medical centers, who have added vaping to their no tobacco policies. 
Mr. Snook suggested the Board have a discussion on the topic tonight, and noted 
a proposed motion is available if the Board wishes to move forward, but 
ultimately noted Staff is simply seeking direction at this time. Mr. Snook did note 
Staff’s recommendation is to include vaping in our no tobacco policy, because 
research indicates it is used a lot by underage individuals, and can include a lot of 
different things which may be illicit, such as tobacco and THC. 
 
Mr. Morehead asked the Board to weigh in on thoughts regarding the topic.  
 
Ms. Kelley asked about what reasons other metro parks and recreation agencies 
have not yet enacted any policies. Mr. Casey reported the research was 
conducted by various staff members and he does not know specifically why but 
speculates it may be related to the need for more statistical data, however he 

No Board Action.  



 

also noted the research his team was able to find was alarming, particularly 
related to young people’s use.  
Mr. Bivins asked if the policy would be in keeping with the City’s Clean Indoor Air 
Act, and noted so far, no data has shown anything particularly good about vaping. 
Mr. Snook confirmed this was correct. 
 
Mr. Morehead noted if the Board moved forward, LSPR would be on the cutting 
edge in our region to take such a step. 
 
Ms. McMillen stated she was supportive of the policy and believes there is 
enough information on secondhand harm to support it. 
 
MS. Shepard believes taking a leadership position on a topic like this will never 
hurt us, and believes if we establish ourselves as leaders, others will follow.  
 
Mr. Crawford asked what, if any, pushback has been received from the 
community surrounding the topic of vaping? Mr. Snook replied historically, when 
the smoking changes were first made, there was pushback in the form of 
“government trying to tell me what I can and can’t do in the park” and stated this 
occurred when LSPR initially tried to ban smoking within a certain distance of 
playgrounds. After this was initiated, a complete smoking and tobacco ban 
occurred, and LSPR did not receive any significant negativity. He stated it was his 
suspicion if there is any pushback to a no vaping policy, it will again be in the form 
of the government is telling me what I can and can’t do in a public space. Mr. 
Binney explained the discussion of adding vaping to the Clean Indoor Air act 
began 5‐6 years ago, and as time has gone on, with more reports and studies, it 
has become clear vaping is not a smoking cessation tool, and the harm seems to 
be more significant than the positive benefits. He stated he believes the 
realization is starting to occur that it is not as safe as it may have been thought, 
noting studies are still focused on what it does to the end user, not to 
secondhand exposures at this point. Mr. Binney stated he is sure there will be 
people who are upset, but thinks the overall community response will not be 
overly negative, especially if the Park Board believes it is in the best interest of 
patrons.    
 
Mr. Crawford asked Mr. Snook whether the jury is still out on the effects of 
secondhand vaping. Mr. Snook reported the research is limited on the effects of 
second hand vape on bystanders, noting the limited research obtained suggested 
there could be a negative effect on individuals with sensitivities, but in the long 
range, it has not been around enough to determine whether there is a long term 
impact on bystanders. Mr. Snook compared vaping to chewing tobacco and the 
direct vs. indirect negative impacts. He noted the biggest issue is sending a signal 
to our youth that it is acceptable and appropriate, with the perception if vaping is 
allowed and adults are doing it, it is probably ok and may encourage young 
people to experiment. 
 
Mr. Crawford stated he believes everyone agrees vaping is not good for our youth 
and doesn’t promote a healthy lifestyle, and vaping is contrary to a healthy 
lifestyle, which is one of the main goals of the Parks Department and should be 
one of the main focuses of the Board.  
 
Mr. Morehead asked if anyone else on the Board had any comments or thoughts 
on the topic and whether there was a desire for the Board to move forward. 
 
Mr. Walker noted he believes the Board should move forward with the change, 
noting there was no apparent reason not to adopt a policy.  
 
Mr. Huser stated he was fine with the direction of the Board in implementing the 
no vaping policy. 
 
Mr. Morehead asked Mr. Snook what steps were needed to move forward. Mr. 
Snook reported we could provide the Board with a proposed motion if the Board 
was inclined to act tonight, or the Board could direct staff to be prepared with a 



 

memo and motion for next month’s meeting. Mr. Morehead asked if the Board 
had a preference. 
Mr. Bivins asked whether the policy had to go before City Council. Mr. Snook 
reported because this is a park rule, it does not have to go before the City Council.  
 
Mr. Crawford stated his preference was to put the decision off to the next 
meeting to allow the Board to do its’ due diligence to ensure it does not appear 
hasty in its’ decision, which he does not believe is the case, but wants to provide 
ample time to consider the decision.  
 
Mr. Morehead directed staff to bring forward an item at next month’s meeting 
including the proposed rule.  
 
Mr. Snook asked the Park Board to contact him directly if there is any additional 
information desired regarding the subject.  

MPRA Staff Reports  Supporting documentation (see pages 68‐86.) Mr. Snook explained staff who 
attended the conference prepared reports regarding the sessions they attended. 
 
Mr. Crawford asked Mr. Snook about his presentation on the professionalization 
of youth sports, and asked how parks programs are combating this. Mr. Snook 
noted this was the million dollar question, and reported the session he presented 
was very busy, and there was a lot of good conversation. Mr. Snook also 
committed to writing an article for the State publication and will submit it to the 
National level as well. He explained he believes the first step is having a serious 
dialogue and educational process. On a higher level, he stated parks and 
recreation agencies have a responsibility to ensure recreation is the number one 
focus, and acknowledged it is easy for sports organizations to go down the path of 
competitive sports. He reminded the Board LSPR works hard with our YSAs to 
ensure they are recreation and participation focused, ensuring every kid has an 
opportunity to play. Mr. Snook acknowledges the need for a competitive 
component, but what has been seen as an increasing trend is families who have 
the financial means are playing at the highest level and those without financial 
means are being weeded out of youth sports altogether. He reiterated the first 
step is communication and education.   
 
Mr. Bivins challenged staff to give good feedback to the Board if this becomes an 
issue in our community, and suggested the Board needs to take an active role in 
combating it.  

No Board Action.  

COVID‐19 Status Update  Supporting documentation (see pages 87‐90.) Mr. Snook advised the Board staff 
is in the midst of budget season and FY20 projections, and as the process was 
occurring, the COVID‐19 crisis hit, significantly impacting the Department from a 
financial perspective. Mr. Snook explained the report presented is intended to 
keep the Board updated, and explained staff would be working on projections for 
FY20 and sharing the information with the budget committee in the coming 
weeks, and eventually the full Board. Some of the assumptions made and efforts 
taken are summarized in this report.  
 
Mr. Snook explained this memo presents the worst case scenario assumption, 
with no revenues for the remainder of the FY20 fiscal year. This also resulted in 
part time staffing being minimized, and expenditures outside of construction and 
minimal needs frozen, unless there is a safety issue. He noted staff was able to 
identify some savings through the process.  
 
Ms. Culbertson included the fund balance report to identify fund balances at 
various levels: beginning of fiscal year; budget; projections at January 2020; and 
current COVID‐19 projections. The report also shows the minimum fund balance 
policy, along with estimated excess or shortfall. Mr. Snook explained the 
Department is still in a good position financially at this time, with the exception of 
Longview, which it was known to be a challenge before the COVID‐19 issue came 
up. He noted the overall goal is to keep the fund balances healthy, understanding 
the challenges with a phased reopening, and realizing we are going to have to 
utilize them to get through FY20 and FY21, at least for the recreation division. He 
explained staff believes we can have minimal impact to our fund balances through 

No Board Action.  



 

creative actions, and a variety of cost savings mechanisms we are continually 
evaluating.  
 
Mr. Crawford asked about the assumption for facilities not opening prior to July 1. 
Mr. Snook explained staff was running the “worst case scenario” for the 
remainder of the fiscal year, because, to this day, we are not sure when facilities 
will be able to reopen. He noted we receive direction from the Federal 
government, the State, and the Jackson County Health Department. He explained 
staff has looked to determine whether we could manage in the worst case 
scenario, and it was determined we could without taking drastic steps at this 
point.  
 
Mr. Crawford asked, given the current stay at home orders are set to expire on 
May 15, whether staff has a plan of action to open starting May 16? Mr. Snook 
reiterated models have been created by staff which examine a variety of opening 
opportunities. He explained the federal process and the myriad of criteria, and 2 
week processes, followed by the phases, and the possibility of local entities 
imposing stricter restrictions make the planning complicated. He also noted total 
capacity limitations, strict social distancing and sanitation requirements, and 
explained under a lot of these conditions, it would not be feasible to open. He 
explained at this point, it appears Phase 4 appears to be “business as usual” and 
explained the period to get back to operations at this time appears to be 6‐8 
weeks. He also explained the challenges associated with training staff given the 
limitations, and explained this is why the models were established, so we can 
begin evaluating and determining the options and possibilities available.  
 
Mr. Crawford expressed his appreciation for the efforts taken thus far in trying to 
establish plans for contingencies. He noted his concern was whether the 
Department was adequately prepared for the moment it is able to reopen. Mr. 
Snook reported LSPR is as prepared as any department in the KC metro area. He 
reported plans will be in place, the issue will be modifying and implementing 
them when feasible, as quickly as it is safe to do so.  

1st Quarter Security Report  Supporting documentation (see pages 91‐93.) No questions or discussion.  No Board Action. 

Park Board Nomination 
Committee 

Mr. Morehead identified the members of the Board he would like to serve on the 
nominating committee as Marly McMillen, Nancy Kelley, and Casey Crawford, and 
asked for their willingness to serve. Each of the proposed members agreed to 
serve as the Nominating Committee, who will meet and prepare a slate of officers 
to present to the Board at the May meeting for consideration, with a vote in June. 
Ms. McMillen asked if it was appropriate for the committee to visit by phone. Ms. 
McCormick Heanue reported a teleconference or Zoom meeting would be 
appropriate.   

No Board Action.  

End of Activity Reports   Supporting documentation (see pages 94‐136.) No questions or discussion.   No Board Action. 

PATRON COMMENT REVIEW 

Supporting documentation (see pages 137‐140.) No questions or discussion.  

MONTHLY CALENDARS 

Supporting documentation (see pages 141‐143.) Mr. Snook noted the May meeting could take place via Zoom or in person, depending on the rules in 
place for social distancing at the time.   

STAFF ROUNDTABLE 

Mr. Snook reported the Budget Committee, consisting of Treasurer Bivins, Mr. Walker, and Ms. McMillen, will meet in early May to review the proposed 
FY21 budget, which will then be presented to the full Park Board at the May meeting. 
 
Mr. Snook praised the Parks Construction staff and Park Operations for all the work to get projects completed and keep the parks cleaned and well 
maintained. He noted, at the end of the day, all staff, including Rec Staff, has done a great deal of work to keep our community engaged, through social 
media programming, communications about social distancing on trails, and other efforts. He stated he is very proud of staff, who has been working very 
hard. He explained most parks and recreation professionals are people pleasers who like to make people happy, and not being engaged with our patrons 
directly can be very difficult but they are doing great work. 

BOARD ROUNDTABLE 

Mr. Morehead complimented Mr. Snook and staff for the time and effort, and noted there are lots of hours being put in and lots of tough decisions 
being made.  
 



 

Mr. Bivins echoed the great job of staff, but also Mr. Snook for his great leadership, and expressed appreciation and regards.  
Mr. Binney noted the Lee’s Summit kudos to the State Parks publication. He also noted the crews working out in the parks and providing maintenance, 
stating staff continues to be bright lights keeping things safe for our patrons, even when things are dim. He thanked the promotions team for the Bored 
Jar and Parks Madness activities which have been great. He commented on Staff and Board flexibility and continual presence and support, which is very 
much appreciated. Mr. Morehead thanked Mr. Binney for his partnership, support and leadership. 
 
Ms. Kelley “dittoed” everything being said about staff, noting everyone seems to be handling things with ease. She also noted she and her husband walk 
the trail at Osage Trails every day and stated it looks really good, and there are always a few people but it is not over crowed, and represents the perfect 
picture of what a park should be like, even with the playground roped off. 
 
Ms. Shepard echoed everyone’s comments, noting this is the weirdest thing that will ever happen to us, and it is being handled with as much grace as 
anyone could ever expect. 
 
Mr. Crawford thanked Joe and staff, hoping this is a once in a lifetime issue we are dealing with, but stating we will get through it and past it, and mental 
and physical health of our City will be imperative on the other side of this. He reiterated we will see people desperate to get back to the parks and 
facilities to be with one another. He also stated the Parks Madness initiative has been a fun thing, and noted the the Canterbury snafu, but 
complimented the different activities keeping levity.  
 
Mr. Walker thanked Joe for keeping the Board updated about the status of what is going on and stated he always does a good job to keep the Board 
updated well in normal times but really stepped it up to keep them informed regarding matters in light of the crisis. He noted there has never been a 
time he felt he wasn’t given the information he needed to act as a Board member. 
 
Ms. McMillen echoed the comments of everyone and noted an article she sent to Joe about the importance of people getting into parks for physical and 
mental health. She reminded the Board what we do is incredibly important and has a big impact on people. She stated she is proud to be a part of the 
organization and everything being done in these unprecedented times.  
 
Ms. Aulenbach thanked Joe and staff for the creativity and leadership during this challenging time She also thanked Mr. Morehead for his time and 
efforts, noting he spends a lot of time working behind the scenes in his role as President. She also expressed her thanks to Ms. McCormick Heanue for 
her assistance on recent matters. She noted the workouts being put out on social media are good, safe workouts which can be done and modified by 
anyone at home. She complimented the Bored Jar and Brackets activities. She stated she is also very excited the Gold Medal application was submitted 
and is excited to hear the outcome. Ms. McMillen also noted the Personnel Committee (Ms. Aulenbach, Mr. Huser and Ms. Shepard) will be convening 
soon to complete the Administrator Evaluation.  
 
Mr. Huser commented he has been running outdoors a lot, and runs through a lot of different parks. He has noticed the snow fencing cordoning off the 
equipment was done in such a nice, neat way, and the approach of the signage combined with the clean method helped create a level of respect and 
appears to be keeping people from wanting to get on it. He gave kudos to parks staff who had to get all of it installed, stating because of the Parks 
system the staff puts together, community is being respectful.  
 
Mr. Morehead complimented the phenomenal Park Board and echoed the statements indicating we have the best of the best from a staff perspective. 

OTHER ITEMS TO BE BROUGHT BEFORE THE BOARD 

None. 

MEETING ADJOURNMENT 

Closed Session – A motion was made by Ms. Kelley pursuant to Section 610.021(1) of the Revised Statutes of the State of Missouri pertaining to legal 
actions, causes of action, or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential or privileged communication between a public 
governmental body or its representatives and its attorneys to go into closed session; seconded by Ms. Aulenbach. Roll Call: Aye ‐ President Morehead, 
Vice President Aulenbach, Treasurer Bivins, Ms. Kelley, Ms. Shepard, Ms. McMillen, Mr. Huser, Mr. Crawford, Mr. Walker.  

 

 


